ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 24 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Pickens County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIMOTHY CARSON RYDER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001916

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in allowing the prosecution to introduce extrinsic evidence of three prior statements by three eyewitnesses where each witness unequivocally admitted the contents of the statement in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for criminal domestic violence, third offense¹ (2012-GS-39-2339) by a Pickens County grand jury on July 23, 2013. R. 185. The case was called to trial on August 26, 2013 before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley. Samuel Tooker represented the state, and Steven Alexander represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R.170, lines 8-14. Judge Baxley sentenced Appellant to serve thirty months in the Department of Corrections. R. 179, line 24 – R. 180, line 1; R. 187.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

¹ Criminal domestic violence occurs when an individual causes physical harm or injury to a person's own household member or offers or attempts to cause physical harm or injury to a person's own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20. Thus, one of the elements of the offense is that the alleged victim is a "household member" of the charged individual. South Carolina defines a household member as a spouse, a former spouse, persons who have a child in common, or a male and female who are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited for purposes of the article concerning criminal domestic violence. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to introduce extrinsic evidence of three prior statements by three eyewitnesses where each witness unequivocally admitted the contents of the statement in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a fair trial.

Relevant facts

Testimony of Erica Ryder

The prosecution's key witness at Appellant's trial was Erica Ryder, Appellant's wife. R. 11, line 25 – R. 12, line 4. On the evening of February 1, 2012, Erica, Appellant, her son-in-law, Phillip Towe, her daughter, Katelyn Choiniere, and a friend, Ernest "Ernie" Baldwin, Jr., were outside talking and drinking beer. R. 16, line 19 – R. 17, line 3. Shortly after her daughter and son-in-law left, Appellant threw a beer bottle in her direction, but did not hit her with the bottle. Erica was uncertain if Appellant was trying to hit her when he threw the bottle because she was sitting beside the trash can and Appellant may have been throwing the bottle in the trash. R. 17, lines 7-18; R. 23, lines 5-11. After the throwing incident, Erica first called Katelyn and Phillip. Then, she called the police because she was angry with Appellant. During the direct examination, Erica initially stated she did not recall exactly what she said to the 911 operator. R. 13, line 23 – R. 14, line 12; R. 18, lines 16-19. Upon further questioning, Erica admitted she told the 911 operator that Appellant "was on the scene making threats." R. 14, lines 17-21; R. 16, lines 2-4. She also admitted to saying that Phillip and Ernie were holding Appellant down. R. 13, lines 22-24; R. 16, lines 5-8.

Erica testified that Appellant was upset because Erica was calling the police. He approached her to convince her not to call the police. Ernie then stepped between them. R.

19, lines 2-8. By that time, Katelyn and Phillip had returned. Her son-in-law immediately tackled Appellant and threw him to the ground. R. 20, lines 1-6. Erica described Appellant as “upset” and “a little agitated” during this time. R. 64, lines 18-19. Phillip soon released Appellant. R. 20, lines 20-21. Erica testified that she recalled talking to the police on the date of the alleged incident, and that she told the police what happened. R. 17, lines 19-23. Erica agreed that she said that Appellant threw a bottle at her, narrowly missed her, and stated he was going to kill her. R. 18, lines 8-15.

When Erica could not recall specific details, the prosecutor used Erica’s statement to law enforcement, which was marked as state’s exhibit #3, to refresh her recollection. Erica admitted the statement was hers, and it was even in her handwriting. R. 20, line 23 – R. 21, line 24; R. 181. After she was refreshed with her statement, Erica agreed that her statement included an allegation that Appellant had threatened to kill her and said he was going to get a gun.² R. 22, lines 2-8.³ Although she readily admitted that her handwritten statement insisted that Appellant had threatened to kill her, Erica did not recall telling police that Appellant threatened to kill her. R. 19, lines 11-19. She further admitted that she told police that Appellant attempted to hit her with the beer bottle. R. 22, line 25 – R. 23, line 2.

Later, the prosecutor asked again Erica if she denied saying that Appellant threw the bottle attempting to hit her. Erica responded, “That’s my statement, but - -.” When the prosecutor asked for a “yes or no” answer, Erica stated, “I wrote it.” The prosecutor clarified: “So is that a yes, I made the statement?” Erica responded, “I made this statement.”

² According to Erica, the gun was a .22 pink rifle that belonged to her nine-year old daughter. R.22, lines 9-14.

³ The trial judge even allowed the prosecutor to ask Erica leading questions based on her being a hostile witness and/or aligned with an adverse party. R. 28, lines 4-7.

R. 28, lines 10-18. The prosecutor then went through the statement line-by-line with Erica.

R. 28, line 19 – R. 29, line 1.

Although Erica's statement to law enforcement included an allegation that Appellant threatened to kill her, and she repeatedly admitted the statement included this, Erica testified that she did "not recall that being said at all." She admitted that she stated that Appellant saying "I have bullets, 'I will take you out.'" She explained that she recalled writing the statement, but she did not recall the incident occurring the way her statement claimed. R. 29, lines 17-24; R. 30, lines 2-9; R.30, lines 16-18; R. 31, lines 2-8; R. 33, lines 22-23; R. 35, line 23 – R. 36, line 3. The exchange occurred as follows:

Q: So you don't recall him saying, and this is what you wrote, so you don't recall writing him saying I have bullets, "I will take you out"?

A. I wrote that, yes.

Q. You wrote that?

A. I wrote that.

Q. Okay. Do you recall writing that?

A. I obviously wrote it, yes. I wrote it.

Q. But you just said a minute ago - -

A. But I don't recall - - -

Q. - - - that you didn't - - -

A. - - - that actually being - - -

Q. - - - recall stating that.

A. - - - stated. I don't.

Q. So you don't recall that?

A. I recall writing it, but that's not how I remember it really happening, no.

R. 30, lines 2-18. She admitted saying that her son-in-law and friend tackled Appellant to the ground and subdued him until the police arrived. R. 30, lines 21-24.

Erica testified she did not recall Appellant say he was going to kill her, and she did not recall Appellant saying he had bullets and would take her out. R. 31, lines 2-11. When the prosecutor asked if she told the officer that Appellant tried to kill her, Erica responded that she "obviously said it" because her statement indicated as much. R. 33, line 19 – R. 34, line 1. Erica admitted telling police that Appellant threatened to run into the house to get a gun to kill her. R. 34, lines 10-15.

On cross-examination, Erica again admitted to having written the statement. R. 48, lines 7-13. She again admitted to having stated that Appellant threatened to kill her and that he had bullets to take her out. R. 48, lines 21-24. She testified that she may have exaggerated what happened because she was angry with Appellant and wanted him out of her house. R. 48, lines 17-20; R. 48, line 25 – R. 49, line 3.

Testimony of Phillip Rowe

Phillip Rowe was hanging out with Erica, Katelyn, Ernie, and Appellant on February 2, 2012. He and Katelyn left to go home. R. 77, line 2 – R. 107, line 18. Erica called Phillip because Appellant was throwing beer cans or beer bottles. R. 76, line 23 – R. 77, line 1. Upon receipt of the call, Phillip returned to the residence. R. 78, lines 19-23. When he arrived, Appellant "kind of came towards [him]." R.78, lines 24-25. Phillip grabbed Appellant and threw him down. Appellant said he was "going to end this" and went toward the house. Phillip grabbed Appellant again. The police arrived minutes later. R. 79, lines 1-5.

During direct examination, the prosecutor showed Phillip his statement to police, which was marked as state's exhibit #5. R. 81, lines 6-10; R. 183. After having his memory refreshed by the statement, Phillip testified that Appellant was going toward the house when Phillip released him. Further, Phillip testified that Appellant said he was going to "get the gun and end this." R. 81, lines 11-17. Phillip agreed that his statement indicated that Appellant ran into the house, but Phillip testified that Appellant never made it inside the house. Phillip stopped Appellant because he wanted to protect Appellant. He surmised that Appellant intended to kill himself if he got a gun. R. 81, line 18 –R. 82, line 11; R. 85, line 18 – R. 86, line 11.

Testimony of Katelyn Choiniere

Like the other witnesses, Katelyn testified that she, Erica, Ernie, Phillip, and Appellant were hanging out. She was not drinking because she was pregnant, but others were. R. 88, lines 5-15. She and Phillip left, but quickly returned because Phillip received a phone call from Erica. R. 88, lines 19-21. When the two arrived at the home, she saw Ernie holding Appellant down. Then, Ernie let Appellant up. Appellant "said something about, I'm just going to end this now and walk[ed] towards the house." Then, Phillip and Ernie tackled Appellant. R. 89, lines 17-25. Although Katelyn stated she did not know what Appellant meant when he said he was going to "end this now," she assumed he was going to harm himself. R. 90, lines 8-17. She further stated that Appellant did not threaten to get a gun; rather, "that was assumed." After Appellant said he was "going to end this now," Erica said there were guns in the house. R. 90, lines 18-23. In response, Ernie and Phillip stopped Appellant again. R. 91, lines 6-12.

The prosecutor presented Katelyn with her statement to police, which was marked as state's exhibit #6. She readily admitted to writing the statement. R. 91, lines 17-24; R. 184. The judge permitted the prosecutor to use leading questions pursuant to Rule 611(c), SCRE. R. 92, lines 19-20. She agreed that in her statement, she said that she returned to Erica's house after receiving a phone call that Appellant was acting threatening toward Erica. R. 92, line 25 – R. 93, line 5. She explained that she did not receive the phone call – Phillip did. R. 93, lines 6-11. She further admitted that in her statement, she said that Appellant was yelling and tried to go after Erica. However, she did not recall that occurring at the time of the trial. R.93, lines 21-24. She agreed that the events would have been fresher in her mind when she wrote the statement and, as a result, the statement “would probably be more accurate.” R. 94, lines 10-20. She agreed that her statement said that Ernie and Phillip restrained Appellant while Erica called 911. R. 94, lines 21-23. Katelyn further admitted that in her statement, she said that Appellant was going to run inside the house to obtain a gun, threatening to use it on himself or Erica. R. 95, lines 5-13. Although Appellant never said those exact words, Katelyn perceived that Appellant was a threat to himself or Erica. R. 95, lines 10-24.⁴

⁴ After Katelyn testified, Judge Baxley had her taken into custody to be tried at a later date for contempt. The day before Appellant's trial, Katelyn had appeared at Phillip Towe's guilty plea to criminal domestic violence. Although Katelyn told police that Towe injured her, she told the court that she had injured herself and lied to the police. Judge Baxley stated that during Appellant's trial, Katelyn had “in some respects recanted” her statement to police. He found that either she was dishonest in her testimony or dishonest in her statement. R. 110, line 6 – R. 111, line 9.

Testimony of Keith Gilstrap

Keith Gilstrap, a deputy with the Pickens County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to the incident location on February 1, 2012. R. 113, lines 10-12. The prosecutor showed to Gilstrap state's exhibits 3 through 6, which were copies of four statements taken by Gilstrap. R.113, lines 24-25. When the prosecutor moved to admit the statement and publish it to the jury, Appellant objected. Specifically, Appellant objected that Erica "acknowledged writing this statement in her testimony." He expounded that Erica did not deny writing it. R. 115, lines 6-22. The prosecutor responded by paraphrasing the language of Rule 613(b), SCRE concerning the introduction of extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements. The prosecutor argued that Erica "did equivocate" when she was given an opportunity to admit or deny her statement. The prosecutor offered, but failed to specify, that he believed "specifically with a couple of lines in that statement she equivocated saying I don't recall saying that." R. 115, line 25 – R. 116, line 11. The judge overruled Appellant's objection and permitted the introduction of the statement pursuant to Rule 613, SCRE. R. 116, lines 12-14. When the prosecution expressed a desire to introduce the statements of Phillip Towe and Katelyn Choiniere, Appellant expressed the same objection.⁵ Nevertheless, the court overruled the objections as to those statements as well. R. 117, lines 9-15; R. 118, lines 6-10. Thus, the statements of Erica, Phillip, and Katelyn were admitted into evidence and published to the jury. R. 181, R. 183, R. 184.

⁵ Appellant agreed to the introduction of Ernest Baldwin's statement. R. 117, line 25.

Testimony of Anthony Raines

Anthony Raines, another officer with Pickens County Sheriff's Department, arrived on the scene. R. 120, lines 8-17. Raines found Appellant being held down by Phillip and Ernie just inside the house. R. 123, lines 1-9. Raines placed Appellant in handcuffs and secured him in a police car. R. 123, lines 18-24. Raines interviewed Erica regarding the incident. Although Raines could not recall her exact words, Raines claimed that Erica said Appellant had thrown a beer bottle at her and then ran into the house. Erica said Appellant was going to get a gun. Erica said "something about he's got bullets, he's going to take me out." Erica claimed to Raines that Appellant had been tackled to prevent him from getting the guns. R. 126, line 22 – R. 127, line 9. Thereafter, Raines arrested Appellant. R. 127, lines 23-25.

Solicitor's Closing Argument

During his closing argument, the assistant solicitor read the statements of Erica, Philip, and Katelyn to the jury. R. 141, lines 11 – 21; R. 142, line 5- R. 143, line 14. Although the assistant solicitor pointed to inconsistencies between the witnesses' statements and their testimony, he neglected to include that each witness admitted to giving the statements to law enforcement and admitted to the contents of those statements. Instead, the prosecutor misled the jurors regarding how the witnesses testified. He claimed the witnesses "seem[ed] to not be able to remember anything. Nothing." R. 138, lines 7-9. He further claimed that when he questioned the witnesses regarding their statements to police that the witnesses said, "Well, I don't know." R. 138, lines 10-16. In direct contradiction of the record, the prosecutor told the jury that when he gave the witnesses their statements to review to refresh their recollections, the witnesses responded, "No, I still don't remember. I

don't even remember writing it. I can't even remember writing that." R. 138, lines 17-22.⁶ Despite the clear testimony of each witness admitting to the contents of their statements, the solicitor argued to the jury that the witnesses could not remember writing the statements "because they're not telling the truth." R.138, lines 23-24.

Thereafter, the prosecutor juxtaposed what he claimed was testimony of the witnesses of their inability to remember with what "they do remember," which was that the incident "was clearly an accident when he was tossing that beer bottle in the trash can." During this argument, he again misled the jury that the witnesses stated, "I don't remember giving a written statement to law enforcement." R. 139, lines 4-10.

Discussion

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence permit the introduction of extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements of a witness when

the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.

Rule 613, SCRE (emphasis added); see also State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 69-70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 33 (1998) (finding error in failing to admit extrinsic evidence of a statement where the witness denied making the statement). A prior inconsistent statement may be admitted as

⁶ During his closing argument, the defense counsel explained that the solicitor submitted that the witnesses "denied even writing these statements or remembered even writing them." However, defense counsel "heard the testimony a little differently. . . You decide for yourself, but they all admitted writing the statements." R. 149, line 25 – R. 150, line 4.

substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination. State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 300 S.E.2d 63 (1982).

This Court observed that “[i]n determining whether a witness has admitted making a prior inconsistent statement and thereby obviated the need for extrinsic proof, the courts of our state and other jurisdictions have held that the witness must admit making the prior statement unequivocally and without qualification.” State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591 S.E.2d 632 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State v. Bottoms, 260 S.C. 187, 194, 195 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1973) & C.J.S. Witnesses 727 (2002)). This Court explained that “[g]enerally, where the witness has responded with anything less than an unequivocal admission, trial courts have been granted wide latitude to allow extrinsic evidence proving the statement. Id. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636.

If the witness neither directly admit[s] nor den[ies] the act or declaration, as when he merely says that he does not recollect, or, or as it seems, gives any other indirect answer not amounting to an admission, it is competent for the adversary to prove the affirmative, for otherwise the witness might in every such case exclude evidence of what he had done or said by answering that he did not remember.

Id. (quoting State v. Sullivan, 43 S.C. 205, 211, 21 S.E. 4, 7 (1895)).

Nothing short of an absolute unequivocal admission satisfies Rule 613(b). In Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636, this Court held the witness’s response to questions about her prior statement did “not meet the standard of a clear and unequivocal admission that the precedent case law demands.” Acknowledging that the witness did “admit that she said the portion of the statement quoted” toward the end of the examination, this Court held such an admission was not sufficient because the witness was adamant throughout her testimony that the statement as recorded by the detective was incomplete. Id. at 81, 591 S.E.2d at 636.

Similarly, in State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201-202, 694 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court held that a prior inconsistent statement by a witness who said his prior statement was “accurate,” that “certain details were not in his original statement because such details were not inquired into at the time and ‘everything was chaotic’” was admissible because the witness “did not unequivocally admit making a prior inconsistent statement.” In State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 523, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court held the trial court properly admitted a prior inconsistent statement by a witness who testified she “could not remember” having made the prior statement because such was “not an unequivocal admission.”

The trial court erred in admitting the statements of Erica, Phillip, and Katelyn into evidence pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE because the witnesses unequivocally admitted to making the statements and to the contents of those statements. When the witnesses testified differently than their statements, the prosecutor presented the statements to the witnesses, who repeatedly admitted to making the statements and to their contents. The prosecutor used the statements to show the inconsistencies in order to impeach the witnesses. This was the proper way to impeach the witnesses. Due to their unequivocal admissions, extrinsic evidence of the statements was not admissible. The trial judge’s erroneous ruling was exploited by the prosecutor reading the statements to the jury in his closing argument. In fact, the prosecutor relied upon the contents of the statements, which were admitted by the witnesses, to make his case. He repeatedly asked the jury to believe the contents of the statements in order to find Appellant guilty.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction and sentence and remand for a new trial.