ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001916

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TIMOTHY CARSON RYDER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not manifestly abuse his discretion by admitting extrinsic evidence of the prior inconsistent statements of several witnesses because those witnesses did not admit they made their prior written statements unequivocally and without qualification. However, even if the trial judge somehow erred in admitting the written statements, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact the written statements were wholly cumulative to the trial testimony of the witnesses who wrote those statements.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by admitting the written statements of Wife, Towe, and Choiniere into evidence during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains those witnesses unequivocally admitted they made their prior inconsistent statements, which allegedly rendered extrinsic evidence of their prior written statements inadmissible. To the contrary, the witnesses in Appellant's case did not unequivocally admit they made their prior inconsistent statements but, instead, qualified their admissions in a variety of different ways. As a result, the trial judge had wide latitude to admit extrinsic evidence of the witnesses' prior inconsistent statements and did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting their written statements into evidence during trial. However, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in admitting the written statements, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact the written statements were completely cumulative to the trial testimony of the witnesses. Accordingly, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When reviewing an evidentiary ruling, the appellate court gives great deference to the trial judge because the reception or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of a trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980); see State v. Torres, 390

S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”); State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) (“[D]eference is due to the trial court’s admission of the evidence.”). An appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the trial judge’s broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000)

ANALYSIS

A. Admissibility of the Statements

If a witness makes a statement on a particular issue and then subsequently contradicts that prior statement during the witness’ trial testimony, the prior contradictory statement is important evidence tending to discredit the witness’ trial testimony. State v. Suber, 82 S.C. 159, 161, 63 S.E. 684, 685 (1909). As a result, a prior inconsistent statement can be admitted as evidence to impeach the declarant of the statement. See, e.g., State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 224, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981) (“If a witness admits a

prior inconsistent statement, he has impeached himself, and further evidence is inadmissible.”). Furthermore, such a statement can also be “admitted as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination.” State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 398-399, 673 S.E.2d 434, 438 (2009); see State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 581, 300 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1982) (“Henceforth from today, we will allow testimony of prior inconsistent statements to be used as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross examination. . . . We believe the adoption of this rule will more effectively aid in the discovery of the truth, and more adequately insure the freedom of the innocent and the conviction of the guilty.”).

Rule 613 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs issues involving the admissibility of prior inconsistent statements. State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010). Pursuant to the rule, extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is admissible if a witness – after being advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place the statement was made, and the person to whom it was made – does not admit making the statement after being given an opportunity to explain or deny it. Rule 613(b), SCRE; see State v. Galloway, 263 S.C. 585, 591, 211 S.E.2d 885, 888 (1975) (“The requirement of notice is met when the cross-examiner advises the witness of the substance of the prior statement and the time when, the place where and the person to whom it was made.”). “However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.” Rule 613(b), SCRE.

“When the issue is whether the witness admitted making the prior inconsistent statement, the admission **must be unequivocal**.” Carmack, 388 S.C. at 201, 694 S.E.2d at 229 (emphasis added); see State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 80, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct.

App. 2004) (“In determining whether a witness has admitted making a prior inconsistent statement and thereby obviated the need for extrinsic proof, the courts of our state and other jurisdictions have held that the witness must admit making the prior statement unequivocally and without qualification.”). Significantly, “where the witness has responded with anything less than an unequivocal admission, trial courts have been granted wide latitude to allow extrinsic evidence proving the statement.” Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636. Moreover, a trial judge’s decision as to whether to admit such extrinsic evidence will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. Carmack, 388 S.C. at 201, 694 S.E.2d at 229.

In the case sub judice, Wife, Towe, and Choiniere all admitted during their trial testimony they made their written statements. However, their admissions were **not** completely unqualified and unequivocal. Instead, Wife qualified her admission by indicating on multiple occasions her statement was missing numerous details, by asserting her statement was inaccurate, by indicating she did not remember the things contained within it, and by stating she did not remember the officer she spoke with on the night of the incident. Cf. State v. Miller, 262 S.C. 369, 371, 204 S.E.2d 738, 738-739 (1974) (holding extrinsic evidence of a witness’ prior inconsistent statement was admissible where the witness admitted he signed the prior statement but stated he did not remember when asked about the contents of the statement); Carmack, 388 S.C. at 201-202, 694 S.E.2d at 230 (finding a witness’ admission he made a prior inconsistent statement was not unequivocal where – although he testified his prior statement was accurate – the witness indicated certain details were not contained in his original statement because such details were not inquired into at the time the statement was given). Similarly, Towe qualified his admission by indicating the statement was not

completely accurate, by claiming he could not remember speaking with Detective Raines, and by asserting he was intoxicated on the night of the incident. See Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (“[A] witness’s failure to **fully** recall her prior statement has been found to be sufficient denial to allow extrinsic evidence.” (emphasis added)). Likewise, Choiniere admitted she wrote her statement but claimed she could not actually recall writing it See State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 522, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010) (“This wide latitude [to allow extrinsic evidence proving a prior inconsistent statement] extends to a witness indicating an inability to recall or to remember a previous statement[.]”). Under those circumstances, the trial judge did not manifestly abuse his discretion in admitting the written statements into evidence during trial. See Carmack, 388 S.C. at 201, 694 S.E.2d at 229 (“A decision to admit extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion that prejudiced the defendant.”); cf. Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (“Considering we are governed by an abuse of discretion standard, we cannot say under these facts that the trial judge erred in admitting extrinsic evidence of Ms. Blalock’s prior inconsistent statement.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of the Statements

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006); see State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) (“Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless.”). An error is

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”).

In the case at bar, even if the trial judge somehow erred in admitting the written statements into evidence, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact the written statements were wholly cumulative to the testimony of the witnesses who wrote those statements. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Critically, during their trial testimony, each of the witnesses acknowledged their written statement contained all of the allegations that were, in fact, contained within it. See State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Because the jury fully heard the contents of

each of the statements through the witnesses' trial testimony, the statements themselves were merely cumulative to that testimony. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) ("It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."); see also Blalock, 357 S.C. at 82, 591 S.E.2d at 636 ("Moreover, Detective Lindsey's publication of the prior statement was cumulative to Ms. Blalock's previous, unchallenged publication of the relevant portions of her statement."); cf. State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 373, 453 S.E.2d 890, 891 (1995) (finding any error in the admission of irrelevant evidence establishing Wyatt's wife initially sought a divorce from him on the ground of physical cruelty was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where Wyatt's wife had already testified in a manner suggesting Wyatt had hit her countless times in the past, which rendered the irrelevant evidence of physical cruelty merely cumulative to the other evidence in the record). Under those circumstances, the admission of the cumulative evidence could not have resulted in any cognizable prejudice to Appellant. See Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 439, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) ("[T]he **additional** impeaching evidence of the inconsistent statement would not have had a meaningful impact on Davis' credibility " (emphasis added)); see also State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93-94 (2011) ("Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless."); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006) ("The improper admission of hearsay is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice."). Accordingly, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in admitting the written statements, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Blackburn, 271 S.C. at 329, 247 S.E.2d at 337 (finding any error in the improper admission of the victim's hearsay statements implicating Blackburn was harmless

because the statements were cumulative to other evidence received in the case); see also State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (“[A]ppellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”), State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.